In The Iowa Supreme Court
Supreme Court No. 19-1954

CHRISTOPHER J. GODFREY,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA; TERRY BRANSTAD, Governor of the State of Iowa, in his official capacity; BRENNNA FINDLEY, Legal Counsel to the Governor of the State of Iowa, in her official capacity,

Defendants-Appellants.

Appeal from the District Court for Jasper County
The Honorable Brad McCall

Appellants' Final Brief
(Oral Argument Requested)

Frank Harty, AT003356
Debra Hulett, AT0003665
Katie Graham, AT0010930
David Bower, AT0009246
NYEMASTER GOODE, P.C.
700 Walnut Street, Suite 1600
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
Telephone: 515-283-3100
Facsimile: 515-283-8045

Email: fharty@nyemaster.com

Statement of issues presented for review

This appeal challenges a \$1,500,000 judgment against the State and Terry Branstad, Governor of the State of Iowa, in his official capacity, and Brenna Findley, Legal Counsel to the Governor of the State of Iowa, in her official capacity. (JA.VI-621-623, 2541-2544). In January 2012, Christopher Godfrey, then-Iowa's Workers' Compensation Commissioner ("Commissioner"), filed suit challenging Governor Branstad's July 2011 decision to reduce the Commissioner's salary to the lowest amount authorized by the legislature under 2008 Iowa Acts ch. 1191 §§ 13-14 ("Salary Act"). (JA.I-68-77, 2397-2412). Over seven years later, Polk County District Judge Brad McCall presided over a six-week jury trial, resulting in verdicts for Godfrey on three claims: Iowa Civil Rights Act ("ICRA") sexual-orientation discrimination; ICRA retaliation; and a *Godfrey* constitutional-tort claim in which Godfrey claimed Defendants denied him procedural and substantive due process based on his Democratic political affiliation by asking him to resign and reducing

his salary to the lowest amount authorized by the Salary Act. The issues on appeal are:

Division 1

Did the district court make errors of law in allowing the jury to decide Godfrey's claims, all of which failed to state actionable legal claims under Iowa law and in any event, were unsupported by substantial evidence, and in denying Defendants' motions for directed verdict and judgment notwithstanding the verdict, because:

- Defendants acted lawfully toward a nonelected political appointee, as Governor Branstad had discretion to establish an appointed state officer's salary and violated no law in asking a political appointee to resign;
- the governor's legal counsel cannot be liable in tort for the governor's decision to reduce an appointed state officer's salary because the legislature vested the discretion to establish salary solely in the governor;
- the ICRA is inapplicable to a governor's decisions regarding a nonelected political appointee;
- Godfrey failed to present substantial evidence regarding an adverse "employment" action under the ICRA;

- the ICRA discrimination verdict is unsupported by substantial evidence because the uncontroverted evidence established Branstad wasn't motivated by Godfrey's sexual orientation;
- the ICRA retaliation verdict was unsupported by substantial evidence because Godfrey didn't engage in protected activity before July 11, 2011, and after that, Godfrey didn't experience an adverse action;
- Godfrey's constitutional-tort procedural-due-process claim failed as a matter of law because Godfrey didn't have a protected property interest, the law does not preclude a governor from considering "political" factors regarding nonelected political appointees, and to the extent Godfrey was entitled to process, he received the process he was due;
- Godfrey failed to state a constitutional-tort substantive-due-process claim;
- Defendants are immune because they exercised due care and exercised discretionary functions under Iowa Code § 669.14(1).

Iowa Const. art. I, § 9

Iowa Const. art. III, § 16

Iowa Const. art. IV, § 1

Iowa Const. art. IV, § 8

Iowa Const. art. IV, § 9

Ackelson v. Manley Toy Direct, LLC, 832 N.W.2d 678 (Iowa 2013)

Astoria Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Solimino, 501 U.S. 104 (1991)

Baldwin v. City of Estherville, 929 N.W.2d 691 (Iowa 2019)

Behm v. City of Cedar Rapids, 922 N.W.2d 524 (Iowa 2019)

Bd. of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564 (1972)

Bonilla v. Iowa Bd. of Parole, 930 N.W.2d 751 (Iowa 2019)

Bowers v. Polk Cty. Bd. of Supervisors, 638 N.W.2d 682 (Iowa 2002)

Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. v. White, 548 U.S. 53 (2006)
Cty. of Sacramento v. Lewis, 523 U.S. 833 (1998)
Clark v. Herring, 260 N.W. 436 (Iowa 1935)
Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532 (1985)
Colton v. Branstad, 372 N.W.2d 184 (Iowa 1985)
Danielson v. Brennan, No. 17-35928, 764 F. App'x 622 (9th Cir. Mar. 25, 2019)
DeBoom v. Raining Rose, Inc., 772 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2009)
Doe v. State, 943 N.W.2d 608 (Iowa 2020)
Drielak v. Pruitt, 890 F.3d 297 (D.C. Cir. 2018)
Dunham v. Wadley, 195 F.3d 1007 (8th Cir. 1999)
Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995)
Easton v. Howard, 751 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2008)
Estate of Franken, 944 N.W.2d 853 (Iowa 2020)
Exec. Air Taxi Corp. v. City of Bismarck, 518 F.3d 562 (8th Cir. 2008)
Farmland Foods v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm'n, 672 N.W.2d 733 (Iowa 2003)
Fitzgerald v. Salsbury Chem., Inc., 613 N.W.2d 275 (Iowa 2000)
Gates v. Del. Cty., 12 Iowa 405 (1861)
Geraci v. Moody-Tottrup, Int'l, Inc., 82 F.3d 578 (3d Cir. 1996)
Godfrey v. State, 898 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017)
Greenwood Manor v. Iowa Dep't of Pub. Health, 641 N.W.2d 823 (Iowa 2002)
Haskenhoff v. Homeland Energy Sols., LLC, 897 N.W.2d. 553 (Iowa 2017)
Hulme v. Barrett, 480 N.W.2d 40 (Iowa 1992)
Kelly v. State, 525 N.W.2d 409 (Iowa 1994)
King v. State, 818 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2012)
Leatherbury v. C&H Sugar Co., 911 F. Supp. 2d 872 (N.D. Cal. 2012)
Lee v. Halford, 540 N.W.2d 426 (Iowa 1995)
McElroy v. State, 703 N.W.2d 385 (Iowa 2005)
McGuire v. Indep. Sch. Dist. No. 833, 863 F.3d 1030 (8th Cir. 2017)
McKinney v. Pate, 20 F.3d 1550 (11th Cir 1994)
McKinney v. Univ. of Pittsburgh, 915 F.3d 956 (3d Cir. 2019)

Movers Warehouse, Inc. v. City of Little Canada, 71 F.3d 716 (8th Cir. 1995)

Neal v. Annett Holdings, Inc., 814 N.W.2d 512 (Iowa 2012)

Nicholas v. Penn. State Univ., 227 F.3d 133 (3d Cir. 2000)

Notelzah, Inc. v. Destival, 537 N.W.2d 687 (Iowa 1995)

Paskert v. Kenma-ASA Auto Plaza, Inc., 950 F.3d 535 (8th Cir. 2020)

Prebilich-Holland v. Gaylord Entm't Co., 297 F.3d 438 (6th Cir. 2002)

Reno v. Flores, 507 U.S. 292 (1993)

Sellers v. Deere & Co., 791 F.3d 938 (8th Cir. 2015)

Shockency v. Ramsey Cty., 493 F.3d 941 (8th Cir. 2007)

Smith v. Thompson, 258 N.W. 190 (Iowa 1934)

State v. Russell, 897 N.W.2d 717 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Smokers Warehouse Corp., 737 N.W.2d 107 (Iowa 2007)

Stillians v. State, 843 F.2d 276 (8th Cir. 1988)

Town of Castle Rock v. Gonzales, 545 U.S. 748 (2005)

Truong v. Hassan, 829 F.3d 627 (8th Cir. 2016)

Walker v. State, 801 N.W.2d 548 (Iowa 2011)

Willey v. Riley, 541 N.W.2d 521 (Iowa 1995)

1931 Iowa Acts ch. 257 § 24

1973 Iowa Acts ch. 1 § 1(29)

2008 Iowa Acts ch. 1191 § 11

2008 Iowa Acts ch. 1191 § 12

2008 Iowa Acts ch. 1191 § 13

2008 Iowa Acts ch. 1191 § 14

Iowa Code § 7E.1 (2019)¹

Iowa Code § 7E.2 (2019)

Iowa Code § 7E.3 (2019)

Iowa Code § 7E.4 (2019)

Iowa Code § 7E.5 (2019)

Iowa Code § 8A.412(4) (2019)

¹ The 2019 Iowa Code is cited unless the statute in place at the relevant time was different on a matter that materially impacts the analysis in this appeal.

Iowa Code § 8A.412(6) (2019)
Iowa Code § 17A.11(1) (2019)
Iowa Code § 66.1A (2019)
Iowa Code § 69.4(3) (2019)
Iowa Code § 69.16C (2019)
Iowa Code § 69.19 (2019)
Iowa Code § 86.1 (2019)
Iowa Code § 86.4 (2019)
Iowa Code § 86.5 (2019)
Iowa Code § 86.18 (2019)
Iowa Code § 216.15(1) (2019)
Iowa Code § 216.2(6) (2019)
Iowa Code § 216.2(7) (2019)
Iowa Code § 216.6(1) (2019)
Iowa Code § 216.6(1)(a) (2019)
Iowa Code § 216.11 (2019)
Iowa Code § 216.11(2) (2019)
Iowa Code § 669.14(1) (2019)
Iowa Admin. Code r. 481-10.1 (2008)
Iowa Admin. Code r. 481-10.29 (2008)
Iowa Admin. Code r. 481-10.29(2)(b) (2008)
Iowa Admin. Code r. 481-15.5(3)(c) (2017)
Black's Law Dictionary 124 (11th ed. 2019)
Black's Law Dictionary 662 (11th ed. 2019)
S.F. 568, 66th Gen. Assemb., 1975 Session

Division 2

Did the district court abuse its discretion in admitting evidence regarding:

- The public-policy views of Branstad and other Republican politicians, alleged “anti-gay” views of the Republican Party of Iowa, the Republican Party of Iowa’s 2010 Platform, Branstad’s item veto, legislative policy proposals from Republican senators, and the personal and religious beliefs of individual members of the Iowa Association of Business and Industry; all as proxies for discriminatory motive; and
- An alleged out-of-court statement by senator Dearden “to show motive, intent, knowledge,” when such statement was not offered to show the impact on the listener?

Iowa Const. art. I, § 2

Iowa Const. art. III, § 16

Iowa Const. art. X

Bond v. Floyd, 385 U.S. 116 (1966)

Citizens United v. Fed. Election Comm’n, 558 U.S. 310 (2010)

Des Moines Register & Tribune v. Dwyer, 542 N.W.2d 491 (Iowa 1996)

Elrod v. Burns, 427 U.S. 347 (1976)

Graber v. City of Ankeny, 616 N.W.2d 633 (Iowa 2000)

Hawkins v. Grinnell Reg. Med. Ctr., 929 N.W.2d 261 (Iowa 2019)

Homan v. Branstad, 812 N.W.2d 623 (Iowa 2012)

John v. U.S., 77 Fed. Cl. 788 (2007)

Kurth v. Iowa Dep’t of Transp., 628 N.W.2d. 1 (Iowa 2001)

McElroy v. State, 637 N.W.2d 488 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Sallis, 574 N.W.2d 15 (Iowa 1998)

Teague v. Mosley, 552 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 1996)

U.S. v. Robel, 389 U.S. 258 (1967)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.401

Iowa R. Evid. 5.402

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403

Iowa R. Evid. 5.702

Iowa R. Evid. 5.802

Division 3

Did the jury instructions materially misstate the law, confuse and mislead the jury, prejudicing Defendants by:

- directing the jury that the governor doesn't have complete discretion to establish a nonelected political appointee's salary within the range established by the legislature;
- directing the jury that it should decide liability regarding Godfrey's constitutional-tort claim, a question of law, and determine what process Godfrey was due;
- describing Godfrey's relationship with the State as an employer-employee relationship when Godfrey was a nonelected political appointee;
- failing to specify the at-issue adverse "employment" action in the ICRA discrimination and retaliation marshaling instructions;
- directing the jury that for the ICRA discrimination and retaliation claims, the "cumulative effect of actions," rather than a discrete action, suffices to establish an adverse "employment" action;

- failing to specify the at-issue protected activity in the ICRA retaliation marshaling instruction and defining a legally flawed standard of protected activity to include personal beliefs that are not communicated to a decision-maker;
- failing to distinguish the standards for ICRA and constitutional-tort damages?

Coker v. Abell-Howe Co., 491 N.W.2d 143 (Iowa 1992)

DeBoom v. Raining Rose, Inc., 772 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2009)

Dindinger v. Allsteel, 860 N.W.2d 557 (Iowa 2015)

Doe v. Cent. Iowa Health Sys., 766 N.W.2d 787 (Iowa 2009)

Dutcher v. Randall Foods, 546 N.W.2d 889 (Iowa 1996)

Fitzgerald v. Salsbury Chem., Inc., 613 N.W.2d 275 (Iowa 2000)

Haskenhoff v. Homeland Energy Sols., LLC, 897 N.W.2d. 553 (Iowa 2017)

Herbst v. State, 616 N.W.2d 582 (Iowa 2000)

Hulme v. Barrett, 480 N.W.2d 40 (Iowa 1992)

Simon Seeding & Sod, Inc. v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm'n, 895 N.W.2d 446 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Russell, 897 N.W.2d 717 (Iowa 2017)

2008 Iowa Acts ch. 1191 § 13

Iowa Code § 8A.416(1) (2019)

Iowa Code § 216.15(9)(a)(8) (2019)

Iowa Code § 216.15(13) (2019)

Eighth Circuit Model Civil Jury Instruction 5.40 (2019)

Eighth Circuit Model Civil Jury Instruction 10.41 (2019)

Division 4

Did the district court abuse its discretion and deprive Defendants their right to present a full and fair defense by (1) permitting Godfrey to present emotional-distress evidence after he refused to answer deposition questions about his medical condition, then (2) precluding Defendants from presenting any evidence at trial regarding Godfrey's medical condition in response to his testimony about emotional distress?

Dean v. Cunningham, 182 S.W.3d 561 (Mo. 2006)

Doe v. Cent. Iowa Health Sys., 766 N.W.2d 787 (Iowa 2009)

Dutcher v. Randall Foods, 546 N.W.2d 889 (Iowa 1996)

Fagen v. Grand View Univ., 861 N.W.2d 825 (Iowa 2015)

Giza v. BNSF Ry., 843 N.W.2d 713 (Iowa 2014)

Lawson v. Kurtzhals, 792 N.W.2d 251 (Iowa 2010)

Pexa v. Auto Owners Ins. Co., 686 N.W.2d 150 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Leedom, 938 N.W.2d 177 (Iowa 2020)

Stender v. Blessum, 897 N.W.2d 491 (Iowa 2017)

Van Stelton v. Van Stelton, No. C11-4045-MWB, 2013 WL 5574566 (N.D. Iowa Oct. 9, 2013)

Whitley v. C.R. Pharmacy Serv., Inc., 816 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2012)

Iowa Code § 622.10(2) (2019)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500(1)(b)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.517(3)(a)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.704(2)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.708(1)(b)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.708(2)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.708(2)(a)
Iowa R. Evid. 5.401
Iowa R. Evid. 5.613
Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(4)
Iowa R. Prof. Conduct 32:3.4(c)
Iowa R. Prof. Conduct 32:3.4(d)
Iowa R. Prof. Conduct 32:8.4(d)

Division 5

Is a \$1.5 million emotional-distress award excessive under Iowa law, where Godfrey gave the jury the impression that he did not seek or receive medical treatment for emotional distress?

Dutcher v. Randall Foods, 546 N.W.2d 889 (Iowa 1996)
Goettelman v. Stoen, 182 N.W.2d 415 (Iowa 1970)
Jasper v. H. Nizam, Inc., 764 N.W.2d 751 (Iowa 2009)
Sallis v. Lamansky, 420 N.W.2d 795 (Iowa 1988)
Simon Seeding & Sod, Inc. v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm'n, 895 N.W.2d 446 (Iowa 2017)

Division 6

Trial judges have inherent authority to manage trial. In this jury trial, during the third week, Godfrey refused to continue presenting his case-in-chief because one of his attorneys was absent. The absence occurred because Godfrey's attorney claimed she couldn't continue trial in the Polk County Historic Courthouse. Godfrey filed three

motions to move the trial location, all of which the Chief Judge denied, and four Justices declined to intervene and change the Chief Judge's decision. Nonetheless, Judge McCall informed Defendants he would grant Godfrey a mistrial, then suggested to Defendants they agree to change venue to accommodate Godfrey's and his attorney's request to move trial. To avoid a mistrial, which would have wasted the time and expense invested in a jury trial that had reached its third week, Defendants agreed under duress to the forced venue change. Did Judge McCall abuse his discretion in refusing to order Godfrey to proceed with his case-in-chief and forcing an illegal venue change on Defendants?

Fry v. Blauvelt, 818 N.W.2d 123 (Iowa 2012)

Metz v. Amoco Oil Co., 581 N.W.2d 597 (Iowa 1998)

Iowa Code § 602.6105 (2019)

Iowa Code of Judicial Conduct 51:2.11(A)(1)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.945

Routing statement

This Court previously decided two interlocutory appeals. *Godfrey v. State*, 898 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017); *Godfrey v. State*, 847 N.W.2d 578 (Iowa 2014). This appeal presents substantial issues of first impression and asks the Court to enunciate legal principles regarding the Governor's executive authority over nonelected political appointees. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c); 6.1101(2)(f).

Statement of the Case

This lawsuit was about Governor Branstad's July 2011 decision to reduce a nonelected political appointee's pay to the lowest amount authorized by the legislature. (JA.I-68-77).² In January 2012, Godfrey filed suit challenging Branstad's pay-reduction decision, asserting claims against the State and six individuals (all Republican) in their personal and official capacities. *Id.* Godfrey asserted nineteen different claims before dismissing most. (JA.I-94, 391, 896-930, 1627-1628, 1760-1761; JA.IV-142, 658, 660).

On May 31, 2019, Polk County District Judge McCall presided over a six-week jury trial. (JA.VI-2370). On July 12, 2019, after summations, the jury considered three claims: (1) ICRA sexual-orientation discrimination against the State; (2) ICRA retaliation against the State; (3) a *Godfrey* constitutional-tort claim against the State and Branstad, Boeyink, and Findley in their official capacities as

² We refer to the Joint Appendix as "JA" followed by the volume and page number, so "JA.I-10" is Joint Appendix, Volume I, page 10.

Governor, Chief of Staff, and Legal Counsel. Godfrey claimed a property interest in maintaining the salary established by Branstad's predecessor (Culver), and alleged Defendants denied him due process because he was a Democrat, by asking him to resign and reducing his salary. (JA.I-2397-2412; JA.VI-468-482).

On July 15, 2019, the jury returned a verdict in Godfrey's favor. On the ICRA claims, the jury awarded \$400,000 in past and \$100,000 in future emotional distress. (JA.VI-621-623, 2541-2544). On the tort claim, the jury awarded \$800,000 for past and \$200,000 for future emotional distress. (*Id.*). Although the verdict form instructed the jury to "use the same damage assessment" for all claims, the jury ignored that directive, and Judge McCall concluded the jury made a mistake in entering the verdict, then entered judgment for \$1,500,000. (*Id.*).

Statement of the Facts

In 2006, then-Governor Vilsack (Democrat) appointed Godfrey (Democrat) Commissioner. (JA.VIII-888; JA.IX-342, 1253). In 2007, then-Governor Culver (Democrat) appointed Godfrey Commissioner,

with senate confirmation. (JA.IX-354, 362). In 2009, Culver reappointed Godfrey, with senate confirmation. (JA.IX-367, 374-375).

In December 2010, following Branstad's election, Boeyink, the Governor-elect's chief of staff, wrote resignation-request letters from Branstad to thirty nonelected political appointees, including Godfrey. (JA.IV-2114 [110:10-19], 2116-2123 [112:9-119:4]; JA.IV-2356-2367 [163:17-174:5]; JA.IX 1051-1079). Godfrey declined. (JA.VIII-100).

On December 29, 2010, Governor-elect Branstad, Boeyink, and Lieutenant Governor-elect Reynolds met with Godfrey for approximately 30 minutes. (JA.IV-2114 [110:16-19], 2126-2128 [122:1-124:18], 2142-2155 [138:18-151:17], 2161-2164 [157:6-160:14], 2219-2220 [26:6-27:1], 2367-2368 [174:6-175:8]; JA.VIII-105; JA-IX-1112). Branstad asked Godfrey to resign, expressing concerns the Commissioner demonstrated anti-employer bias, was not fair and evenhanded in decision-making, and could impede Branstad's business-development and job-growth goals. (*Id.*). Godfrey again declined to

resign, and upon Branstad's inauguration, continued the appointment. (JA.I-2401-2402 ¶¶ 38-43; JA.IX-1103).

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