IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT
Supreme Court No. 19-1954

CHRISTOPHER J. GODFREY,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA; TERRY BRANSTAD, Governor of the State of Iowa,
in his official capacity; BRENNA FINDLEY, Legal Counsel to the
Governor of the State of Iowa, in her official capacity,
Defendants-Appellants.

APPEAL FROM IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR JASPER COUNTY
THE HONORABLE BRAD MCCALL

APPELLEE'S AMENDED FINAL BRIEF
(Oral Argument Requested)

Roxanne Conlin, AT0001642
Devin Kelly, AT0011691
Jean Mauss, AT0005006
ROXANNE CONLIN &
ASSOCIATES, P.C.
3721 SW 61st Street, Suite C
Des Moines, IA 50321-2418
Phone: (515) 283-1111
Fax: (515) 282-0477

Email: roxanne@roxanneconlinlaw.com

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

Argument

Division I

The verdicts are consistent with the law and supported by substantial evidence.

Godfrey does not dispute that Defendants preserved this appeal issue.

A. Branstad did not act lawfully toward a nonelected political appointee.

1. The Governor does not have unfettered discretion to establish an appointed state officer's salary within the statutory range.

When Branstad took office in January 2011, Godfrey had been Iowa's WC Commissioner for five years. His salary was \$112,068.84. On July 11, 2011, Defendants reduced Plaintiff's salary to \$73,250.00, the lowest level allowed by statute. Iowa Acts 1191 § 14 (2008). (*See* JA.IX-100).

The legislature dictated criteria the Governor must use in setting the WC Commissioner's salary.

The governor shall establish a salary for appointed nonelected persons . . . by considering, among other items, [1] the experience of the individual in the position, [2] changes in the duties of the position, [3] the incumbent's performance of assigned duties, and [4] subordinates' salaries.

Iowa Acts 1191 § 13 (2008) (numbering added).

Chief of Staff Jeffrey Boeyink ("Boeyink") testified that Branstad made the decision to cut Godfrey's salary July 5, 2011. (JA.IV-2218[25:3-11]). Boeyink admitted that Godfrey's experience was never discussed in reaching the decision. (JA.IV-2224[31:11-18]). There were no changes in Godfrey's duties. (JA.IV-2224[31:19-25]; JA.IV-2225-226[32:24-33:1]). No consideration was given to salaries of Godfrey's subordinates. (JA.IV-2225[32:15-23]). No consideration was given to these three of four mandatory criteria in the statute. (JA.IV-2227-229[34:14-36:9]).

Branstad admitted he never provided Plaintiff with a performance evaluation and never looked at his personnel file or prior performance evaluations. (JA.IV-3612-613[133:20-134:3]). Branstad never received complaints about Godfrey's work ethic, professionalism, timely completion of administrative duties, or interactions with legislators. (JA.IV-3540-541[61:14-62:9]).

Defendants argue that the court “misinterpreted the Salary Act¹⁰ to create a right to continued salary at the amount established by a prior governor.” (Appellant-Defendants’ Brief (“Def-Brief”) 35). Rather, the court held that: “Implicit in the allocation of authority to consider ‘other factors’ is the restriction that the ‘other factors’ considered may not be improper, unconstitutionally prohibited factors.” (JA.VI-2374)

Defendants argue that the act provided a non-exhaustive list of items for Branstad to consider and granted him discretion to consider non-enumerated criteria unconstrained by the Iowa Civil Rights Act (“ICRA”). (Def-Brief 37-38). The act’s legislative history cited by Defendants erodes their argument that the statutory criteria are non-mandatory. “[T]he bill does not limit consideration to these factors, only specifies that these factors shall be considered among other factors.” S.F. 568, 66th Gen. Assemb. (1975).

Defendants ask the Court to give the words of the statute their “ordinary meaning.” (Def-Brief 35-37). Plaintiff agrees that the word ‘shall’ should be assigned its ‘ordinary meaning.’ “[W]e have interpreted the term

¹⁰ When Defendants’ refer to the “Salary Act,” they are referring to Iowa Acts 1191 §§ 13-14 (2008).

“shall” in a statute to create a mandatory duty, not discretion.” *State v. Kawonn*, 609 N.W.2d 515, 521-22 (Iowa 2000).

Branstad violated the Iowa Act 1191 section 13 by cutting Plaintiff’s salary without considering three of four mandatory criteria.

2. The Governor’s legal counsel can be liable for acts related to the salary-reduction decision.

Defendants argue that Findley cannot be liable for Plaintiff’s salary reduction because it was authorized by Branstad. (Def-Brief 40). Findley can be liable even if she did not personally possess authority to reduce Plaintiff’s salary. With regard to the sexual orientation and retaliation claims, the question is did Findley, who was directly involved in the adverse personnel actions, act with discriminatory animus. *DeBoom v. Raining Rose, Inc.*, 772 N.W.2d 1, 7 (Iowa 2009). With regard to the due process claim, the question is whether Findley exercised due care. *Baldwin v. City of Estherville*, 915 N.W.2d 259, 279 (Iowa 2018).

As legal counsel to Branstad, Findley played a key role in slashing Godfrey’s salary. (JA.IV-2768[76:2-6]; JA.IV-2774[82:15-21]; JA.IV-2871-873[179:7-181:5]). The jury determined that Defendants reduced Plaintiff’s salary on a basis disallowed by law, the decision was clearly arbitrary and unreasonable, and damaged Plaintiff. (JA.VI-0475-476; JA.VI-0622).

Plaintiff was not given adequate due process. (JA.VI-0475-476; JA.VI-0622).

The jury was then asked to consider whether each “Defendant acted with all due care to conform to the requirements of the law in making the decision to reduce Plaintiff’s salary.” (JA.VI-0476). Branstad and Findley did not exercise due care. (JA.VI-0622).

Abundant evidence supported the verdict. Despite her legal training, when providing counsel to Branstad, Findley did not know how many decisions the WC Commissioner issued. (JA.IV-2796[104:14-24]). She reviewed only five decisions for the governor. (JA.IV-2796-797[104:25-105:7]). She had no idea what percentage those five decisions represented to the overall number of decisions before the agency. (JA.IV-2797[105:8-12]). She never evaluated any cases the business community liked or cases in which Plaintiff ruled in the employer’s favor. (JA.IV-2837-839[145:6-147:5]).

3. A Governor and Governor-elect’s resignation request to a nonelected political appointee can result in liability when motivated by discriminatory animus.

Defendants argue that Branstad’s requests for Plaintiff’s resignation are not actionable because Godfrey was not terminated. (Def-Brief 40-41).

We would not be here if Defendants’ sole action against Plaintiff were the requests for resignation and Plaintiff had been allowed to continue his

term without interference and retaliation. A number of adverse employment actions followed Plaintiff's refusal to resign, chief among them was the \$40,000 salary reduction. (JA.IX.100). Plaintiff also suffered significant personal distress caused by the Governor's repeated insistence that he resign.

B. The ICRA verdicts are consistent with the law and supported by substantial evidence.

1. The ICRA is applicable to a governor's decisions regarding a nonelected political appointee.

Defendants argue that the "ICRA doesn't apply to a nonelected political appointee" because an "appointee is not an 'employee'." (Def.-Brief 41-44). No authority cited supports Defendants' contention.

Defendants offer *Clark* for the assertion that Plaintiff "had neither an at-will nor contractual employment relationship with the state." (Def-Brief 42, citing *Clark v. Herring*, 260 N.W. 436, 439-40 (Iowa 1935)). There was no dispute in *Clark* regarding the insurance commissioner's status as an employee of the State of Iowa. *Id.* The case examined the removal statute's constitutionality. *Id.* at 438.

Plaintiff here does not challenge the removal statute's constitutionality. As Findley testified, it had no bearing on actions taken against Godfrey.

[A]lthough there is a removal statute for people who have [a six-year fixed-term], when I reviewed the removal statute, none

of those grounds appeared to apply. And I recall the governor seemed to indicate agreement with that assessment in my view.

(JA.IV-2859[167:1-5]).

In *Halford*, cited by Defendants, a deputy director corrections was terminated without cause. *Lee v. Halford*, 540 N.W.2d 426, 427-28 (Iowa 1995). Because the deputy “served at the pleasure of the director of corrections,” was not appointed for a term of years, and was not a merit employee, he did not have a property interest in his position. *Id.* at 429. Nothing in this case states that the deputy director was not a state employee. It strongly suggests that an appointment for a term-of-years, in fact, creates a property interest. No statute or case Defendants cite contradict the WC Commissioner’s status as a State employee.

Plaintiff accepted appointment as WC Commissioner as an employee and was paid a salary. (JA.VIII-0879; JA.XI-1339-342; JA.IX-0503; JA.VIII-0888). Following his second Senate confirmation¹¹, this appointment for a term of six years. Iowa Code § 86.1 (JA.VIII-0894-895). Plaintiff had a job description. Iowa Code § 86.8. “The director of the Iowa Workforce Development (“IWD”) [directed] the administrative and compliance functions and controlled the docket of the division of workers’

¹¹ Plaintiff’s first senate confirmation was to fill the remainder of a term vacated early by the prior commissioner. (JA.VIII-0894-895).

compensation.” Iowa Code § 84A.1(3)(b). Godfrey’s salary was publicly available in Iowa’s “State Employee Salary Book.” (JA.IX-0503).

Plaintiff was an employee even within the definition identified by Defendants because he was serving under an express contract of hire that gave the employer the right to control his work performance. Black’s Law Dictionary 124 (11th ed. 2019).

Finally, the Iowa Supreme Court already decided that Godfrey is entitled to ICRA protections. *Godfrey v. State*, 898 N.W.2d 844, 892-93 (2017). Chief Justice Cady wrote, “I find the [ICRA] provides [an adequate] remedy here, at least with respect to Christopher J. Godfrey’s claim against the State for discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation.” *Id.* at 880. This statement implicitly recognized Plaintiff as employee entitled to the ICRA’s protections.

2. The governor-elect discriminated “in employment” against a political appointee as part of a continuing violation.

Defendants argue that the ICRA is not applicable to Branstad’s 2010 requests for resignation because he was not yet governor and therefore, was without authority to impact Godfrey’s appointed position. (Def-Brief 44-45). The two requests for resignation in December 2010 standing in isolation do not constitute discrimination pursuant to the ICRA. Rather, Plaintiff proved his employment discrimination claim through, *inter alia*, various instances

of disparate treatment. Branstad's requests for Godfrey's resignation reflect his desire to eliminate Godfrey from his administration. The requests for resignation contributed to the substantial evidence of Defendants' discriminatory intent. *See also infra* Div. I.B.3.

3. Godfrey presented substantial evidence of adverse employment actions.

Defendants isolate discriminatory acts and argue that, considered separately, each incident was "minor" and did not constitute substantial evidence of discrimination. (Def-Brief 45-51). *Glaringly absent from Defendants' list of discriminatory acts is their reduction of Godfrey's salary by nearly \$40,000 without notice.* This was unquestionably an adverse action under the standard that applies to discrimination as well as retaliation. *See, e.g. Jackman v. Fifth Judicial Dist. Dep't of Corr. Serv.*, 728 F.3d 800, 804 (8th Cir. 2013).

Moreover, the jury may consider multiple incidents cumulatively to determine whether—in combination—they are "material" enough to count. *Haskenhoff v. Homeland Energy Solutions, LLC*, 897 N.W.2d 553, 641 (Iowa 2017) (Appel, J., concurring). The jury properly found that the \$40,000 pay cut, alone or in connection with other acts, sufficiently adverse to be meaningful.

a) The resignation requests were adverse actions.

Defendants argue requests for resignation were not adverse actions because Godfrey declined to resign and his appointment was not materially impacted. (Def-Brief 47). This argument fails because the requests for resignation were surrounded by additional adverse acts intended to force Godfrey to resign, followed by slashing his salary by nearly \$40,000.00.

The resignation requests also provide evidence of disparate treatment. Plaintiff provided evidence that, *inter alia*, two heterosexual men (Dave Neil and Stephen Larson) who were initially asked to resign were then permitted to maintain their employment without further requests to resign and without salary cuts. (JA.IV-3680-682[201:16-203:16]; JA.V-3187-188[74:5-75:9]). The requests for Plaintiff's resignation provide evidence that Branstad treated Godfrey differently than his heterosexual colleagues. This is evidence of disparate treatment discrimination based on the employer's pattern and practice. *Iowa City Human Rights Com'n v. Roadway Exp., Inc.*, 397 N.W.2d 508, 511-12 (1986).

b) The ICRA did not bar claims that Godfrey administratively exhausted.

Defendants argue that Plaintiff did not administratively exhaust his claims. (Def-Brief 47-48).

Plaintiff filed three separate charges with the Iowa Civil Rights Commission: Aug. 25, 2011, Jan. 3, 2012, and Apr. 13, 2012. (JA.II-1921-1941). Godfrey’s timely filed ICRC claims identified distinct discrimination and retaliation claims. (Id.)

The Iowa Supreme Court considered administrative exhaustion issues and determined that a separate report is not required for every discriminatory event. “To force a plaintiff to file a new administrative charge with each continuing incident of discrimination would create needless procedural barriers.” *Lynch v. City of Des Moines*, 454 N.W.2d 827, 832-33 (Iowa 1990). Claims that “reasonably relate” to plaintiff’s reported claims are proper. *Id.*

Cited by Appellants, *Ackelson* addresses whether punitive damages are available under the ICRA. *Ackelson v. Manley Toy Direct, LLC*, 832 N.W.2d 678, 680 (Iowa 2013). The only mention of administrative exhaustion is in dicta and states that an individual must follow the framework for reporting a complaint of retaliation in Iowa Code section 216.15(1). *Id.* at 680. That is precisely what Godfrey did.

Plaintiff requests that the trial court’s ruling be affirmed. “All of the ongoing adverse actions taken by Defendants against Godfrey that were not

explicitly outlined in the civil rights claims ‘were reasonably related to’ Godfrey’s administratively exhausted claims.” (JA.VI-2384).

c) Plaintiff established additional adverse actions.

i. Department head retreat.

Branstad held a “Governor’s Leadership Retreat” on October 10, 2011. (JA.VIII-0527-535). Boeyink described the meeting’s importance.

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